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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION
DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS
SEPTEMBER 27,2021
PR-21-105009
2501 INWOOD PLACE

PROPOSAL

Demolish a ca. 1948 house.

ARCHITECTURE

One-story, irregular plan, flat-roofed house with elements of International Style and mid-century Modern design, plus
eclectic modifications including turned wood columns, geometric wood medallions, and vintage wrought iron lighting
fixtures. The house was constructed in 1948, with a 1952 addition. It has expansive roof overhangs with wood soffits, a
combination of horizontal and vertical wood siding, and stone veneer. Stands of oaks, along with stone planters, walls, and
steps extending from the house, lend a strong connection between the house and landscape. Stonework on the chimney and
walls is narrow random ashlar, while planters and site walls are uncoursed rubble stonework, suggesting different
construction periods. Windows are groupings of steel casements that meet at building corners, with one floor-to-ceiling
commercial storefront window.

RESEARCH

Hugh McMath

The house was owned and occupied by Hugh and Frances McMath from the time of its construction until their deaths, and
it remained in the McMath family until this year. Hugh McMath (1904—1992) taught at the University of Texas School of
Architecture for 44 years. He was a renowned professor with a specialization in Mexican architecture. He was instrumental
in introducing his students to the principles of Mexican architecture and worked to introduce Mexican architectural
programs into the greater sphere of American architectural studies. During the 1950s, he arranged annual summer trips of
U.S. students to the Instituto Tecnologico of Monterrey, Mexico, and later organized architectural tours to promote interest
in Mexican heritage and architecture.

McMath served as chair of the School of Architecture from 19461948, director from 1948—1950, and acting director from
1953—-1956. During this time, McMath encouraged John S. Chase to apply to the architecture program, telling him about
the pending Sweatt v. Painter case that desegregated the university. Chase went on to many firsts as an African American:
the first to enroll at the University of Texas, the first to graduate with an architecture degree, and the first in Texas to become
a licensed architect.

Beyond academia, McMath served in other leadership roles in architecture. He was co-chair of a committee to draw up a
long-range plan for Pioneer Farms when it was formed in 1956. McMath also served as president of the Central Texas
branch of the American Institute of Architects (AIA) in 1958. He served on the AIA National Committee on Education and
Foreign Relations. The Royal Society of Arts of Great Britain made McMath a Fellow to recognize his work to develop
cultural relations with Mexico.

Frances McMath (ca. 1905-1986) graduated from the University of Texas in 1924. In addition to working for a nonprofit
and in public education, she held multiple positions at the university, as secretary to the dean of the Graduate School and to
the president of the university, and on the staff of the Dean of Women. She co-led or accompanied many trips to Mexico.
She supported women at the university, including sponsorship of a university club welcoming female architecture students
and wives of students, and involvement with the university’s alumnae association of the Mortar Board, an honor society.

Plan Con, Fabricon, and Ned A. Cole

The house at 2501 Inwood P1. was built in 194849 by Plan Con, a local building construction firm that shared its location
with a partner company, Fabricon, at 4601 E. 5™ Street. Plan Con was operated by Carl B. Morris, president of Materials
Distributing Company, with Maurice W. Cole as vice-president, Russell Horn as secretary, and Ned A. Cole as treasurer.
Carl Morris’s obituary noted that he was a real estate developer and home builder. Maurice Cole was the proprietor of Metal
Equipment Company, a welding company at 4607 E. 5™ Street. His brother Ned Cole was president and one of four founders
of Fabricon. Russell J. Horn was a student at the University of Texas at this time.

Fabricon is listed as cabinet makers in the Austin city directories of the late 1940s but was more accurately a manufacturer
of pre-fabricated wall storage units, roof trusses and windows—a pioneer in home design and the efficiency of interior



D2-2

storage. The firm, a collaboration of four GIs returning from World War I, planned houses with prefabricated wall units
and increased interior storage. Plan Con was relatively short-lived, appearing in city directories and newspaper searches in
1949, as compared with Fabricon, which operated from 1946 through at least 1960.

Ned Cole graduated from the University of Texas School of Architecture in 1939. He was the architect of many of Fabricon’s
home designs. While research has not identified his specific contributions to Plan Con, he presumably played the same role
as the sole architect within the company’s leadership. As an architect and homebuilder, Cole rose to national attention in
1952-53 with his design of the National Association of Home Builders Trade Secrets house, a culmination of this national
trade organization’s efforts to incorporate innovative cost-cutting strategies and improve homebuilding quality. The home
included signature features of Cole’s architectural practice: tilt-up walls with precut lumber and modular windows, roof
trusses that eliminate the need for interior bearing walls, and prefabricated storage partitions. Cole was the architect of seven
houses in the Austin Air-Conditioned Village, designed in 1954 with Fabricon products, and built homes throughout Central
Texas. He moved to Baton Rouge, Louisiana in 1961, where he continued his long career, including serving as a consultant
on the construction of the Louisiana Superdome in New Orleans.

Plan Con constructed tract houses in the Pecan Orchard (2000-2100 Peach Tree St.) and Sun Terrace subdivisions in 1949.
Beyond their affordable price points (36,950 to $8,450; in the mid-1950s, $12,000 to $14,000 was considered a median
price), an advertisement billed a comprehensive package of design, construction, and loan negotiations; home features
included the Fabricon wall storage units, central heating, and large metal casement windows.

While contemporaneous, McMath’s house is a unique design, constructed at a higher cost of $9,500 with varied materials
and articulation. Given Ned Cole’s connections to Plan Con and likelihood that he studied under McMath at the University
of Texas, there is a distinct possibility he was the architect of 2501 Inwood Place.

PROPERTY EVALUATION

The property is beyond the bounds of any City survey to date.

Designation Criteria—Historic Landmark

1) The building is more than 50 years old.

2) Despite its eclecticism, the house appears to retain high integrity, with changes made during the McMaths’ ownership.
The applicant has indicated that the house is in poor condition, and some exterior features are deteriorated or missing.

3) Properties must meet two criteria for landmark designation (LDC §25-2-352). Staff has evaluated the property and
determined that it appears to meet two criteria:

a. Architecture. The house is a hybrid of International Style and nascent mid-century Modern design aesthetics. It
has a very blocky exterior that suggests the International Style, but also the use of local, natural materials in the
wood and stone siding, the blending of the outside with the inside, deep eaves, and use of large windows that
were hallmarks of mid-century Modern design. The design may be the work of architect Ned Cole in association
with Plan Con, the builders of this house. The house has multiple modifications, including the addition of turned
columns, wood medallions, and wrought iron lights, but these changes may represent Hugh McMath’s evolving
architectural interests and experimentation at his own home.

b. Historical association. The property is associated with Hugh McMath, a professor of architecture at the
University of Texas who specialized in the study of Mexican architecture and was prominent in integrating
Mexican schools of architecture into a larger sphere of American architectural studies.

¢. Archaeology. The property was not evaluated for its potential to yield significant data concerning the human
history or prehistory of the region.

d. Community value. The property does not possess a unique location, physical characteristic, or significant
feature that contributes to the character, image, or cultural identity of the city, the neighborhood, or a particular
demographic group.

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed landscape with artistic, aesthetic,
cultural, or historical value to the city.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Consider initiation of historic zoning. Should the Commission instead choose to release the demolition permit, encourage
rehabilitation and adaptive reuse, then require completion of a City of Austin Documentation Package, consisting of 8 x 10”
photographs of all elevations printed on photographic paper, a dimensioned sketch plan, and a narrative history for archiving
at the Austin History Center, prior to release of the permit. Encourage documentation of significant interior features.
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NOTIFICATIONS
CASE# PR 21-105009

LOCATION:2501 INWOOD PLACE

L _ . ZONING BOUNDARY
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This product is for informational purposes and may not have been prepared for or be suitable for legal,
engineering, or surveying purposes. It does not represent an on-the-ground survey and represents only the
approximate relative location of property boundaries.

This product has been produced by CTM for the sole purpose of geographic reference. No warranty is made
by the City of Austin regarding specific accuracy or completeness.
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Applicant, 2021

Occupancy History
City Historic Preservation Office
City Directory Research, July 2021

1959 Hugh L. and Frances McMath, owners
Hugh — Professor, University of Texas
Frances — Clerk, O Henry Jr. High School

1957 Hugh L. and Frances McMath, owners
Hugh — Professor, University of Texas
Frances — Clerk, Board of Education

1955 Hugh L. and Frances McMath, owners
Acting director, School of Architecture, University of Texas

1952 Hugh L. and Frances McMath, owners
Professor, University of Texas

1949 The address is not listed in the directory.
NOTE: The house was built in 1948.
NOTE: Hugh L. McMath is listed as a professor at the University of Texas; he lived at 386a Deep Eddy
Apartments. Frances McMath is not listed in the directory.

Biographical Information
Hugh L. McMath (1904-1992) married Frances Marian Little (ca. 1905-1986) in Travis County in June 1937.

The 1940 U.S Census shows Hugh and Frances McMath as the renters of the house at 1801 Newfield Lane in Austin. Hugh
McMath was 35, had been born in South Dakota, and was an assistant professor at the University of Texas. Frances McMath
was also 35, had been born in Texas, and was the chief clerk at the Works Progress Administration office.

His 1942 World War II draft registration card shows that Hugh Lyon McMath was living at 2210-C Nueces Street in Austin;
he was employed by the Department of Architecture at the University of Texas and was married to Frances McMath. He
was born in 1904 in Watertown, South Dakota. He was 5’-11" tall, weighed 150 pounds, and a had a light complexion with
brown hair and blue eyes.



Miss Little Bride
‘Of Hugh L. McMath

The marriape of Miss Frances Marian Little, cdaughlier ot MTrs.
Henry Morrow Little, to Hugh I. McMath, on Friday morning at
St. David's Episcopal church came as a surprise to many friends
of the popular universfy couple.

Defore the ceremony hegan, lester Brenizer sang the nuphial

- — - wu & LA Ak

'sole, with Carl Fehr at the organ. +

The Rev. James Allen, pastor of
| the church, performed the double
FiHE Ceremony bEToTe mGmbars o |
the iwo familics.

The bride, dressed in a blue
tailored crepe with blue accessories
and wearing while flowers, was
given in marriage by her brother,
Dr, Harry M, Little ot Pittsburgh,
Pa. )

Mrs, Harry M. Liitle of Piiis-
burgh attended the bride, and Wal-
ter T, Rolfe altended Mpo MelIath.

Immedialely following the cere-
mony, the couple left for New York
city by molor., On..July 24 they
1will sail on the S. S. Europa for a,
irip abroad, returning 1o Austin
about Sept. 15

Mrs, McMath received her bachs
elor of arls degree from the Uni-
versity of ‘Texas, later scerving o=
secretary 1o the dean of the grad-
uale school. In 1928 she beeame
secrelary 1o the president of the
universily, She is a member of P
Beta Phi sorority and Mortar
Board, honerary organization.

Mr. MeMath, of Fargo, N, D, the
son of Mrs. Miriam G, McMath, is
an assistant professor of architec-
ture at the university. He received
CradTERET sﬁﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁﬁ"‘?ﬂ'
archilecture from the wuniversity,
and later atlended the Massachu-
setls Institute of Technology, from
which Institution *ht received his
master of science degree in 1936,
He Is an assoclate. member of the
American Institute of Architecture

and of Sigma Chi fraternity and!
Tau Sigma Delta, |

L3

D2-7

Society page story on the wedding of Hugh McMath and Frances Little, Austin American-Statesman, 7/18/1937.



Architects Will Meet in Mexico Cily:

lewell H. Harrls and Hugh L.
VicMath of the Unlversily of Texas
#l1l accompany 23 School of Archl.
ecture students to Mexico City for
the Elghth Pan-American Congress
of Architecis this week.

Highlight of the meeting will be
dedication of the Natienal Univer-
sity . of Mexico's mnew  $00,000,000
campus, one of the largest single
building projecis of modern times,
Famous personages at the confer-

ence will Include Frank Lloyd

Wright, David Lillenthal and Mies
Van Der Rohe.

The extended field irlp fits intal

& general University program to
promote better understanding be.
tween thia country and Latin-Amer«
ican natlons, The trip will be fi.
nanced partly from tundl provided
by tha University's Architectural
Foundation and the Central Texas
Chapter of the American Instituts
of Archltects.

. Dr. Lewis U, Hanke, direcior ot
the University'e Institute of Latin-
American Studles, assisted in mak-
ing fleld trip arrangements, Stu.
dents scheduled to attend the meet.
-ing include:

' Austin—Arthur C. Dykes Jr., 3407
Duval; 8. M. Fitzpatrick, 2304
Swisher; Duane Hale LaRue, 45013%
-Avenus H; A, William Modrall, 3308
Liberty: Mrs. Onny Burke Smith,
1001 Alamedn Drive; Nick Temzus,
15078 Brnckcnrldge Apartments;

and Jack R, Turner, 1113 Enfield,
Bagdad, Irag-Hisham A. R. Mu-
nir.
Beeville—Willlam Guy Rupc.- ‘
Center--Howard C, Parker Jr,
Dallas—Willlam Overton 8hel.
mire, Gordon L, Smith Jr. and John
Algot Tolins, :

El Campo—Irwin Don Meyers. .
. El Paso—Tom D. Conger.

Grand Prairie—Benny H. Blder-'

man.
Lameza—Daniel H. 'I'erry
McAllen—Julio Rafael Guerra. -
New Braunfels—James R. Welers-

chitecture,

Vi

hausen, -
Pharr-J, B, Hmcocﬂ. L :
San Antonio—Robert N. I;mHy"‘
Waco--C. D, Warren Jr.i .=~ 5i5mm

Hugh McMath
To Visit Mexico

Hugh L. McMath, acting diree-
tor of the University of Texas Ar-
chitecture Schaol, will visit the In-
stituto Tecnnloglcu in Monterrey,
Mexico, Nov, 22-28, Professor Mc-
Math will take the Institule’s ar-
chitecture department an applicas
tian far membership into the Asso.
ciation of Collegiate Schools of Ar-

The nssociation has a member-
ship of some 70 United States and
Canadian schoois, but the Monter-
rey schoaol will be the first in Blex-
fco to hold membership in the ns-
sociation.

Professor MeMath, who has been

a memhber of the American Insti-
tute of Architeets Committees on
Education and International Rela-
tions, set up an architectural de.
sign warkshop in the Monterrey
school in (950, and has taught
there in summer sessions.

Examples of McMath’s travel and work in Mexico, including a trip to extend an invitation to the
Instituto Tecnologico in Monterrey, Mexico to join the Association of Collegiate Schools of Architecture,
The Austin Statesman, /0/13/1952 and 11/17/1955.
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SUMMER IN MONTERREY—Several students from
Austin high schools are attending the summer school
session at the Instituto Tecnologico y de Esiudios
Superiores de Monterrey in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon,
Mexico. On the front row are Pebble Stone, (left)
daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Leon Stone: Jeanne Richey,
Mrs, Verna 8. Richey; Linda Senterfitt, Mrs. Maurine
Scnterfitt; Kaly Alderman, Mr. and Mrs. William B.
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Alderman; Debbie Boyd, Mr. and Mrs. Bradford C.
Boyd; and Beth Marsh, Mr, and Mrs. George Marsh.
Second row sludents are Georgia Lochridge, daughter
of Mr, and Mrs., Lloyd Lochridge; Lucy Ross, Dr. and
Mrs. Raleigh R. Ross; Quita McMath and Professor
and Mrs. Hugh L. McMath, group leaders; Ann Ver-
nado, Mr. and Mrs. R. F. Vernado; Johanna Franke
of Odessa and Mary Sue Marmion of San Anfonio.

Group of high school students attending a summer school session at the Instituto Tecnologico,
led by Hugh and Frances McMath and including their daughter, The Austin Statesman, 8/15/1962.



Mortar Board

Alumnae Elect |

Mrs. Tom Graham Will
Head Austin Chapter

Mrs. Tom Graham was elected
president of the Austin alumnae of
Mortar Board at a luncheon Thurss |
day at noon at the Home Economles
tea house. Other officers who will
serve with her are Mrs. Hugh Mc-
Math, vice president; Miss Anne
Finch, secretary-treasurer. i

The U-shapcd table wns decorat-
ed with purple and white iris as a
cenlerplece, with place cards in
the Easter motif., The Easter theme

also fealured In the arrangements
of Easter neats, and egg contalners
for the conlections used the leng!h|
of the iable, * i

Miss Frances Loulse Mueller, out-
going president, presided.

Those present were Mesdames
Bob Armstrong, John A. McCurdy,
J, Merlin Blockeite, Raymond Hill,
Dan Driscoll, Hugh Lynn, Raymond
Everett, J. M. Frazier, Tom Gra-
ham, Stuart Harris, R. D. Hender-
son, Huph MceMath, W. I, McNeill,
W, K. Mitler, Fred Nagle, Jr., Ev-
ereit Smith and Marion Webster.

Misses Edleen Begg Dorls Clower,
Dorothy Gehauer, Helen Cosgrove,
Annle Riil, Thelma Lockwood,
Lucy Moore, Annnbel Miurray, Eliz-
abeth Powers, Alma Widen and
Fran-ce Lnuisg h.!ueller.

L ]

Architects Wives |
Form UT Club

Mrs, Don Wrightsman, incoming
president of the Student Architects’
Wives' club of the University of
Texas was on hand to greet new
members of the group al a re-
cent Informal party in the Archi-
Lecture Building.

She has announced that mem-
bership is open to wives of all
architecture students and all wom-
en architecture students on the
campus, '

" Other club officers are Mrs, Jim
Carter, vice president; -Mrs. John
Notestine, recording secretary;

Mrs. Norman Hopkins, correspond-
ing secretary; Mrs. Ron Luther,
treasurer: Mrs. John Nill, hiztori-
an; and Mrs. Robert Hayes, par-
llamentarian.

Special guests for the meeting
were Mrs. Hugh L. McMath, spon-
sor of the new club, and Mrs, J.
Robert Bulfler. Both are wives of
professors in the School of Archi-

tecture.

Frances McMath supported women at the University of Texas through multiple endeavors,

The Austin American, 3/22/1942 and The Austin Statesman, 11/1/1955.
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. Austin Amerlc;n-United I'ress

:Eugene V. Giles points to the Walnut Creek tract he and

:his gister, Miss Laura Lewis Giles, have deeded to the
-Hcrnagv Socirty of Austin for development as a pioneer
‘memorial park. The gift will be formally accepted in a
*ghort program at the south entrance to the Capitol Sun-
‘day at 4 p. m,, opening the Easter Promenade the Herilage
Socxew is sponsoring 1o revive the ance popular custom

of strolling around the sjatehouse.  The  park, which
‘contains buildings and a botanic garden, is on land pur-
~chased in 1852 by Giles' grandparenls, Frederic and
. Harriet Bachman Jowrdan!
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Historic Tract Donated

By LORRAINE HARNES

An historic 86-acre tract of fand
northeast of the city will became

a pioneer memorial mrk commem-
orating the deeds of early-day sel-
tlers under terms of the gift o
fhay Tosril apey Snedoly ol Avistin

Donors of the properly in the
scenic Walnut Creck area are Fu-
gene V. Giles and his sister, Miss
Laura Lewis Giles, who have giv-
en the tract in memory of their
maternal grandparents, Frederic
and Harriet Bachman .Jourdan,

Mrs. Klizabeth Gardner, presi-
dent of the Heritage Socicty, said
a leng-range plan for development
of the park will include the restor-
ation of {he pioncer buildings and
maintenance uf a beautiful botanic
garden which Giles has created on
the Jourdan Spring Branch on the
properly as a memorial to his
mather, Sallie Jourdan Giles, liven-
tualty the park will he a replica
of a pionece Travis County settle-
ment where  visitors  will see in
authentic detail the homes, furni-
ture, farm amd ranch implements
and miscellaneous items of a one-
time plantation restored for perma-
nent view,

The seciety will present citations
lo the donors in ceremonies Sun-
tl,'ty at 4 p.m. on the south steps
of the Capitol sl oepening of the
Kaster Promenade in the Capitol
prounds, Judge Will Wilson of the
State Supreme Court will give the
weleoming  address.

“Mr, Giles and his sister have
entrusted 1o the Heritage Sociely
a gift of rare value,” Mrs, Gard-
ner deelared, “In heauly, history,
and edueational potential for new
generations, 1 doubt that any heri-
tage group .in Texas has recewed
a pilt equal to this one.’

Careful planning and design will
go inte development of the park,
Mrs. Gardner announced, In pre-
serve ils pioncer atmasphere, Wil
liam J. Lawson is chairman and
Hugh MceMath co-chairman of o
commitiee appointed to draw up
the long-range plan,

As a companion gilt, Giles has
given a log cabin to be moved onto
the sile, and other pioneer relies
will he sought by the eritage So-
ciety, In a nearby ;,ln\'vl hed are
numerous fossit remains, intriguing
to amatenr and professional  pa-

leontologisls, and the bhotanie gor-

For Pioneer Memorial

den, on which Giles has lahored
more  than a  decade, contains
many varieties of native plants
which University of Texas botan.
ists have asked Giles lo show to
students,

Here the canyon walls have been
rocked up 1o a heighl of 40 feet
antd the banks termced for a gar-
den effect. Giles built a dugowt
on the scene—similar ia the ones
that housed many a pioneer fam-
ily in the early days of Texag—
and added a pergola on one side
of the structure,

Legend and history combine in

Excerpt from article describing the establishment of Pioneer Farms, The Austin American, 4/1/1956.

— - —
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Title Hugh L. McMath papers
Dates: 1928-1977

Abstract The Hugh McMath papers include textual and photographic material primarily documenting his 44-
year teaching career in the School of Architecture at The University of Texas at Austin. He held a
deep interest in the art and architecture of Mexico and developed courses in pre-Hispanic and
Colonial architecture of Mexico and published several monographs on the subject. Record types
include photographs, correspondence, student work, writings, and faculty papers.

Hugh Lyon McMath was born in Watertown, South Dakota, May 9, 1904.

McMath studied engineering and architecture at North Dakota Agricultural College (Fargo, North Dakota) in the
1920s, receiving a bachelor's of architecture in 1927. He was an instructor in architecture at North Dakota
State College from 1927-1928; and at Bradley Polytechnic Institute in Peoria, lllinois from 1928-1929. He
arrived in Austin in 1930 to teach at The University of Texas. Subsequently he received a master's in
architecture from The University of Texas in 1934 and from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1936.

In 1942 McMath entered the U.S. Army Air Corps along with a number of other University faculty members. He
served as an instructor and later as a director of the ground school at Moore Field Army Corps Base in
Mission, Texas. He headed the educational guidance staff of the Austin Air Reserve Group in the 1950s and
retired with the rank of lieutenant colonel in 1964.

During his 44 years of teaching in the School of Architecture at The University of Texas, McMath served as
chair from 1946-1948, director from 1948-1950, and acting director from 1953-1954. In addition to his private
practice, McMath lists professional experience in the offices of Frederic J. Klein (Peoria, lllinois), Walter T.
Rolfe (Austin, Texas), Walter C. Harris (Austin, Texas), Golemon and Rolfe (Houston, Texas), and McKee and
Kamrath (Houston, Texas).

McMath held a deep interest in the art and architecture of Mexico. He developed courses in the pre-Hispanic
and Colonial architecture of Mexico and published several monographs on the subjects. From 1950 until 1960
he organized an architectural workshop at the Instituto Tecnologico of Monterrey, Mexico, attended by
students from all over the U.S. His sponsorship aided the admission of the architecture school at the Instituto
Technologico into the Association of Collegiate Schools of Architecture. He organized “Arctours” to Mexico in
1968, 1969 and 1970 to inspire interest in historic Mexican architecture by touring sites. Funded by a
University Research Institute grant, he conducted a photographic survey of architecture in Puebla, Mexico, in
1968.

In 1957, serving as a consultant and coordinating architect for design and construction of the American School
in Monterrey, he arranged an association of Monterrey architects and representatives from the Houston firm of
Caudill Rowlett and Scott Architects and Planners.

McMath was made a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts of Great Britain for his work to develop cultural
relations with Mexico. He was a member of the American Institute of Architects (AlA) and the Texas Society of
Architects and served on the AIA National Committee on Education and Foreign Relations.

Hugh McMath retired from The University of Texas in 1974.
From the Alexander Archives, University of Texas, https://legacy.lib.utexas.edu/taro/utaaa/00114/aaa-00114.html.
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JOHN S. CHASE: PAVING THE WAY—FINDING A PATH TO UTSOA

John S. Chase recognized that after earning his undergraduate degree from Hampton University and working
as a drafter at an architectural firm in Philadelphia, the best way to further his career was to continue his
education. In 1949, he moved to Austin, Texas, to begin working for the Lott Lumber Company, and he hoped
to pursue further studies at UTSOA, the best architecture program in the country at the time. Meeting with the
Dean of the School of Architecture, Hugh McMath, Chase inquired about studying at UTSOA, despite the
University’s strict policy of segregation. Dean McMath told Chase about the pending Sweatt v. Painter case
that was being argued in the Supreme Court at the time in 1950, and McMath encouraged Chase to apply for
the program in anticipation of the case’s conclusion.

Online exhibit of the Architecture and Planning Library of the University of Texas at Austin,
https://utlibrariesarchitecture.omeka.net/exhibits/show/paving the way/finding_a_path.

Frances Litlle Mcmain |

- Mre. Frances Little McMath, 81, of
4501 Inwood Place died at her home,
January 17, 1988

She was a native Austinite and de-

scendant of ploneer Texans. Mrs.

McMath attended Austin billc
and the Universify of Texas,
uating In 1024 with & BA In

Obituary for Frances Little McMath, Austin American-Stateman, 1/28/1986.

Hugh Lyon McMath, former director of UT School of Architecture, dies at 88
November 17, 1992 | Austin American-Statesman (TX)

Hugh Lyon McMath, former director of the University of Texas School of Architecture and professor emeritus,
died Sunday. He was 88.

McMath was director of the school for six years when the department of architecture separated from the
College of Engineering in 1948.

McMath, who earned master’s degrees in architecture from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and UT,
began teaching at UT in 1930.

In 1950, he and his wife, Frances, began taking students from all over the country to study architecture during
the summer at the Instituto Tecnologico y de Estudios Superiores in Monterrey, Mexico.

Before teaching at UT, McMath taught briefly at North Dakota Agricultural College (now North Dakota State
University) and Bradley Polytechnic Institute in Peoria, Il
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4 Ex-GI's Pull New Idea
And It Spells Sensation

Scoop up & few million men,
shove them in 8 war bag and shake
them, up, and it's difficult to pre-
dirt what will come out. Onee—in
awhile it’s a success story.

Four ex-GI's, ranging in agefrom
24 to 33, who landed in Austin when
the war bag was dumped, have dug
down deep 1o prove that such
stories are sl in  vogue. And
they've just about upset all the
odds in doing it

Starting with a string of chance
meetings, an idea and $5,000, they
have in less than iwo years, brought
their capital up {0 $28,000. In ad-
dition, they've licked the problem
of getting a new product accepted
by the public. Orders of more than
5100,000 are on hand, yet untitled.

The men are Ned Cole, 20, Wil-
liam Baker, 24, Watt Watkins, 29,
and H. E. Cadwallader, 33, the sole
owpers of Fabricon Inc. one of
Austin’s most 1 'y indus-

1o work, helping bulld the factory
in the garage. Time slipped by,
Baker didn't go to school and the
three of them eventually saw that
he was a necessary part of the firm.
He was teken in.

The fourth member, Cadwalla-
der, became assaclated with  the
others through a chance meeting of
his wife and Mrs. Cole in a Sunday
Bchool class. g

He came to Austin because dur-
ing the war he married an Austin
girl, the former Margaret Leslie,
and although he faught industrial
arts in an Ohio high school and held
one degree, he planned 1o enter the
Universily here and study law.

But through his wife’s chance
meeting with Mrs. Cole, Cadwalla-
der soon met the other members of
the firm. He sits up In the front
office now, managing sales and
other paris of the business end. .

Cole still draws. plans for new

iries which taken over the
building of a large portion of the
walls fn Austin homes,

Their walls, nlrendy tested and
proven, are glimpses into the future
where the last arlicle of wasted
space in homes—the walls—is put
1o use. Already many homes in
Austin are built without rooms—just
four outside walls, a floor and
roof. Fabricon Inc. then steps in
with its factory-built walls—all of
them closets, drawers and other
storage areas—and divides the home
imto rooms.

Contractors like the walls, be-
ecause through their use, the size of
houses can be lessened, thereby cut-
ting construction costs. Prospeclive
home owners like them because
they can keep the size of the house

the same and gain additional floor

space. Room-consuming closets, cab-
inets and trunks are completely out.

‘With the daring and ambitlon pe-
culiar i0 young men. the faclory
of Fabricon Inc. was started before
even the land on which to erect it
was available.

Cole, an Ausila architect and the
man with the idea, and Watkins, a
Dallas furniture maker. who met by
a chance Army transfer during the
Pacific war, rented a {wo-car garage
on West Eighth Street and  started
construction of the plant carly in
1946 before they even knew where
they would place it

As each individual part of the
framework was built, it was car-
ried outside and a&nother piece slart-
ed,

Before Cole and Watkins finished,
Baker and his wife came to Austin
1o atiend the University of Texas on
the GI Bill of Rights and in thelr
search for a place to live, ane
swered an advertisement offering a
room for rent in Cole's home!

+ Cole rented them the room and
‘because Baker had arrived before
the term was to start, Cole put him

ducts and designs many of tha
homes in which they are to he used.
Whatkins and Bak¢y manage the

op.

After the framework of the plant
was built in the garage, land was
ablained, but.a crilical shoriage of
still needed materials developed.
Not to be whipped at that stage of
the game, the men made their own.

An inscriptian, “Built by four sol-
diers with thelr bare hands. June
1, 1946 on the tornerstone of thelr
plant at 4601 East Fifth Street of-
fers a glimpse of what has gone be-

ore.

To get their materials, the men
armed themselves with hoes, shov-
cls, n mixing box and a new de-
sign for n concrete block and rolled
up their sleeves.

‘They set up the pre-fabricated
framework and then laid the out-
side walls themselves from the con-
crete blocks.

“It was like the blind leading the
blind,” Cadwalladet sald. “There
wasn't a one among us who hed
ever lald as much as a brick be-
fore.” ’

Starting with only one clher man
employed besides themselves and
producing only $1,500 in walls per
month, the men have built the plant
up untll it now employes 20 persons
and produces morc than $15,000.af
products per month.

The original plant was B0 feet
long and 30 fect wide. It has been
expanded four times, extending ils
length to 240 feet. Another ex-
pansion program is underway.

men are as closely associated as
their business dealings. They, like
most returning velerans with wives,
were caught in the squeere of
Austin’s housing shortage,

Baker had only the room he rent-
ed from Cole. Watkins moved five
times in 14 months. Now they all
live in a single building, a four

unit apariment, where they have
put the things they make into use.

Designed by- Cole, the building
slls down off the strcet level at 805
‘West 10th .Street. - Of brick con-
struction and:a “different” design,
it has offen been mistaken for. a
laundry and other business estab-
lishments, the maln reason per=
haps, because the rear of the apart.
ment faces the sireet,

Visitors are nearly always stariled
when after descending from the
.sireet, they find four Individual
"apartments, all with piate glass
| fronts and indlvidual yards and
arranged In such 8 manner as
L provide the utmost privacy for each
| family. .
' These men know Lhey have some-
"thing and undoubtedly have a rosy
| view on the future, but until only
recently they have been too busy
tuflding their forest to see the
trees. .

War oflen makes sirange bedfel-
lows, but once In awhile a perfect
blend is reached.

The private lives of these, four .

, e
e el it

HOUSE SENSE—When four ex-Gl's landed in Austin after
the war, uprooted from their normal surroundings, they hit
town with an idea about something new for the home, and by
upselting the odds against them made il pay off. “Why should
the space consumed by walls be wasted?” they reasoned. Put-
ting their reasoning inlo action, they built a plant with their
own hands, naming it Fabricon. And now many Austin homes
are built without rooms. When the contractor has finished,
Fabricon enters and divides the homes into rooms with walls

they manufaclure—walls that are all closels, cabinets and
other storage arcas. The walls in their home (they all live in
a four-unit apartment building) are shown as they can be ar=
ranged in a new pattern every day merely by sliding a few
panels. The wall pictured is between a living-dining room and
the kitchen. The opposife side, through the manipulation of
other panels, provides all the kitchen cabinet space needed.
The wall at right in both pictures opens into a bedroom claset
on the opposite side, deep enough and tall enough: for all gar-
ments.

Article on Fabricon and Ned Cole’s role in the venture, The Austin Statesman, 2/27/1948.
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for 'he fime bemgr the Plancon pattern ho
be built on your own lot. There is g
con's DIFFERENCES and Plancon’s
MIES result from'construction on enti

Arrangements are being completed to open new devel
reason, and for a limited time, the Plancon package is o
paftern home can be censtructed on your lot.

for only *6950 for 2 bedroom

$8450 for 3 Bedroom

me can
reason why—since Plan-
REMARKABLE ECONO-
re developments at once.

opments using Plancon package. For this
vailable to individual lot cwners, The Plancon

e INCOMES AS LOW AS $200

® MONTHLY PAYMENTS As
MONTHLY WILL BUY. '

LOW AS $44.00,
® 3250 DOWN COVERS EVERYTHING : -
(EXCLUSIVE OF .CURING ANY TITLE - * A COMPLETE PACKAGE WHERE ONE
DEFECTS IN YOUR PROPERTY). CALL HANDLES EVERYTHING

- THE PLANCON PACKAGE INCLUDES: THE PANCO_N PATTERN HOME INCLUDES::

e An architecturally-designed home. ® Beautiful Fabricon wall steraga units,
® All loan negotiations. o Youngstown sink unita,
i ing and layout.
e Engineering an y — hm"ng’
@ A turn key construction job.
. L 5 3
® All attendant fees except curing title defects in ¢ large metal casement windows,
i
your property, ® Rooms with living space.
-

YOU have to SEE a Plancon pattern home to

realize the remarkable difference and to kno.w P l A N c 0 .
what we mean by Plancon’s economy. You will
want to inspect a Plancon putl:ern humtu:lal:ld Phones: 28227 o 62363

compare it with other low cast homes available HOURS.

in Austin. For full details call URS: 8 a.m. to 6 p.m.

Advertisement for Plan Con’s Pattern Homes, The Austin Statesman, 3/8/1949.
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Austin Building Takes
Healthy Step Forward

Austin is headed to another $2,-
000,000 building censtruction month
if the rate set for the first hall
of the month is maintained.

During the first 13 days of Janu-
ary, 124 permits totaling $1,118,367
in value were issued. Commercial
construction, lagging for the past
three years, was beginning.to show
activity with 14 permits issued for
$360,245. .

'Residential and apartment house
construction which was anticipated
{0 show some decline maintained
its activity with permiis for 96
apartments, residences and addi-

tions granted for a total value of |

$760,950. In all, 91 dwelling units
had been projected during the first
half of the month.

Only two of the 124 permits is-
sued were non-taxable, the re-
maining 122 structures- adding $i.-
088,295 to the tax values of the
city. .
Major commercial permits issued
during the first two weeks of Janu-
ary were for the new passenger
station of the Missouri Pacific Lines
at Third and Baylor Streets cost-
ing $68,500, and the Citizens State
Bank at 1904 Guadalupe involving
& total estimated cost of $103,463,

Permits were issued to Sinclair

Refining Company for the erection
of six new gasoline service sta-
tions in various parts of the city
costing a total of $107,500. These
new stations vzill be located at 1301
Barton Springs Road, 1701 West
35th Street, 5307 Airport Boule-
vard, 801 East First Street, 4926
Georgetown Road and 2900 San Ja-
cinto Boulevard. E. B. Snead Con-
struction Company has been award-
ed contracts for these stations.

Highlighting residential construc-
tlon already projected are 28 four-

.i room and bath houses to be erected

in the 2000-2100 blocks of Peach
' Tree.Street in Pecan Orchard Sub-
| division at a cost of $6,500 each
' with Ned Cole as contractor. Per-
' mits for their construction were is-
| sued to a group listed as Plan Con
with Carl B. Morris as the appli-
cant, This residential development
will cost an estimated $182,000.

Two major apartment house
projects are being built in Enfield
by Marion Barrett with a permit
cost of $25,000 each but estimated
to cost $110,000 when completed.
Two-story rock veneer and frame
apartment houses and carports con-
taining 24 rooms and eight baths
will be built at 1201-1203 Marshal
Lane, and two-story brick veneer

and frame apartment houses and
carports will be constructed at
2509-2511 Enfield Road to give Aus-
tin two additional eight-unit apart-
ment projects.

Ben Ogletree has been granted a
permit for the construction of a
16-unit apartment house project at
301 West 31st Street to cost an
estimated $50,000. This project will
contain 53 rooms and 16 baths.

Barnes Hofl is constructing sz |
stone veneer residence and garage
attached, containing seven rooms
and two baths, at 4601 Laurel Can-
yon Drive in Highland Park at a
cost of $20,000. .

Other Jarger construction proj-
ects include the two-story defense
resecarch laboratory on the Uni-
versity of Texas campus costing
$27,572, and the masonry addition
to a business building at 1708-10
West 35th Street by R. G. Muel-
ler. The Southern Pacific has been
granted a permit to erect a ma-
sonry office bujlding at 2303 East
Sixth Street to cost $500.

Description of tract housing development by Plan Con, The Austin Statesman, 1/20/1949.
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Permit Issued for $63,500

Sigma Chi Chapler House

- Construction of a new _
chapter house for Sigma Chi fra-
ternity at. 2701 Nueces Street was
given the starting signal Monday
with a permit issued to the Yar-
brough Construction Company, gen-
eral contractor, by John C. Eckert,
cily building inspector. )

The stone veneer house will be
two stories and a basement con-
taining 13 rooms aid five baths.
Plans were drawn hy Giesecke,
Kuehne and Brooks of Austin,

Another large bullding project
now under way is that of Plan Con.
granted permits for construction
of si frame residences and carports
attached in Sun Terrace Addition
at a total cost of $49.600. .

A brick veneer and frame resi-
dence with carport attached is be-
ing erected at 2400 Pemberton
Place. This home containing nine
rooms and {bur baths will cost $34,-

7.
Permit for the construction of

b3
a two-story brick veneer four-unit
apartment house has been issued to
‘Mrs. Edna Von Rosenberg. This
building. composed of 20 rooms and
four baths, is to be constructed at
102 West 30th at a cost ol $24,000.

Other permits of $10,000 or more
value include:

W. A. Cunningham. frame and
stone veneer addition to residence,
2405 Woodmont, $10,000,

Nash Phillips-Copus Homes, Inc.,
cutstone veneer residence and ga-
rage attached. 5100 Fairview Drive,
Highland Park West, $10.000.

Kohn Estate, brick veneer resi-
dence and garage attached, 5401
Shoal Creek, $10,000,

Bill Tarver. frame residence and
garage attached, 3213 Clearview,
$12,000.

Additional Plan Con homes planned for construction in 1949, The Austin Statesman, 9/26/1949.

Fabricon Inc Ned A Cole pres Walt Wat-
kins v-pres cabtmkrs 4601 E 5th _

Plancon Inc (constn div) Carl B Morris
pres Maurice W Cole v-pres Russell
J Horn sec Ned A Cole treas bldg
contr 4601 E 5th

Entries in the 1949 Austin City Directory for Fabricon and Plancon.

Fabricon Inc Ned A Cole pres cabt mkrs

4601 E 5th

Entry in the 1952 Austin City Directory for Fabricon. There are no entries for Plancon or Carl Morris;
Maurice and Ned Cole are listed with their other ventures, respectively Metal Equipment Co. and Fabricon,
and Russel Horn as a student at the University of Texas.
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Permits
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To the Supermtendent df Samtary 8

‘Sir;— o .
‘1 hereb; make application for sewer

L L ANCOY I NC
further described as Lot 9
subdwmng/V WD() D pﬁ- R.p k‘ ;

In this place there are to be'installed. "2 i
I agree to pay the City of Austm, the regul
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Application for Sewer Connection, 1949

| WATER SERVICE PERMIT € e, 3310
st Austin, Texas .

Received of.. Y Lﬁ[l/ ____________ A/ SR Date t/“"? "'Q/ ﬁ
Address..... XSO /ﬁ/;,;// 00d.. Pm CE.
AmountTg'Vfo*#l’ \i N 0//0»1‘\""‘"'—"“' N
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Size of Tap Made  <F$F* 8 N u

, Size Service Made e i N :\ T %
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From Front Prop. Line to Curb Cock....Zs, S NN NN u\)‘
From < — Prop. Line to Curb Cocka[pr ;\ t B S H T
Location of Meter....: /j P :"; .\ )‘ T & g\ :
Type of Box 1—404/ E’i E gy 8 ﬁ g
Depth of Main in ... —— . & = giig IR g2 %
From Curb Cock to Tap on Main____. | P i~ P
Checked by Engr. Dept \'f— SO -5 (,«}Z/ /O Zo A H o
E‘IY\DV‘P!\ ] IR SN
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Water Service Connection, 1949
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‘Hugh L. McMath +406—¥aysitePrive
152 9. : -

Inwood Park
Frame residence with garage attached.
39174 9-20-48 $9500.00

Plan Con

Building Permit, 1948

wabeomt = - C et e e

o [

.- el
,; %&gh L. NeMath . . 5 2501 Iﬁwaod Place’
" 182 9 and east 1/2 of 8 - -
Inwood Sub, -
- Frame and*maaonry addition ‘to residenc:
49715 1-3-52 $5000.00

Qwner

Building permit to Hugh McMath for an addition, 1952
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Architects and Designers

The following architects and designers are presented in order of prominence relative to the Austin Air-Conditioned
Village. Ned A. Cole helped select Austin as the site of the experiment through his role as chairman of the National
Association of Home Builders air-conditioning subcommittee, served as project manager for the construction, and
designed seven of the houses. H. D. Powers designed five houses, J. Eugene Wukasch designed two, and Fred Winfield
Day, Jr., W. R. Coleman, and Oran Vaughan each designed one home in the Village. While some found more critical
acclaim in their careers than others, collectively their work is representative of mid-century residential design in Austin’s
middle class, suburban neighborhoods.

Ned Ansel Cole (1917-2008)

Ned Ansel Cole was born in Ferris, Texas. He earned a degree in architecture with honors from the University of Texas at
Austin in 1939 and subsequently began building houses and teaching in the architecture department. Drafted into the U.S.
Army in 1941, Cole served in the South Pacific building infrastructure on Guam and in the Philippines.?'®

Cole returned to Austin after World War Il and with three other veterans founded Fabricon, Inc. The firm designed and
produced innovative prefabricated wall storage units that would serve as a centerpiece of Cole’s residential architecture.
The founders constructed their factory building in modular sections in a rented garage, before the ultimate site of the
facility at 4601 East Fifth Street in Austin had been selected and obtained. The hand-cast concrete block cornerstone of
the building reads, “Fabricon, built by four soldiers with their bare hands, 1 June 1946.” In place of traditional site-built,
load-bearing walls, the Fabricon wall units turned room dividers into organized storage with built-in sliding doors and
drawers. An Austin Statesman article characterized the units as a modern space-saving measure in contrast with outmoded
storage methods—*“Room-consuming closets, cabinets and trunks are completely out.” ?'® Cole’s role in the company was
designing the product as well as many of the homes that used it. In response to Austin’s postwar housing shortage, he also
designed a four-unit apartment building at 805 W. Tenth Street, replete with Fabricon products, that he and his family
occupied along with the other founders.

In 1952, Cole designed a demonstration home for the Coleman Company, headquartered in Wichita, Kansas (Figure 41).
Prompted by increasing construction of air-conditioned housing, the home provided a training ground for dealers and
distributors through nearly fifty copies built in various locations. Though comparable in size and remarkably similar to
Cole’s later designs for the Austin Air-Conditioned Village, the house was estimated to sell for $14,000 to $15,000, not
including the cost of land; at $1,900, the air-conditioning equipment constituted a high percentage of the price. The same
year, Cole also worked with Houston builder P. S. Luttrell on increasing the efficiency of an air-conditioned model
intended for large-scale construction.?!” Cole was awarded a citation by the ACRI in 1953 for his “initiative and
noteworthy leadership in increasing public interest in the use of residential air conditioning.”%'8

Cole rose to national attention with his design for the NAHB Trade Secrets house (Figures 42—-43). Operation Trade
Secrets, initiated in 1951 by NAHB president Bill Atkinson, provided a forum for the nation’s leading builders to share
innovative cost-cutting strategies and ideas for improving the quality of their product. The initial venture in October was
met with such enthusiasm that a series of regional meetings were scheduled later in the year, and a second round of more

215“Ned Ansel Cole,” The Advocate, Sept. 16-18, 2008, accessed Sept. 13, 2020,
https://obits.theadvocate.com/obituaries/theadvocate/obituary.aspx?n=ned-ansel-cole&pid=117526971.

2164 Ex-GI’s Pull New Idea and It Spells Sensation,” The Austin Statesman, Feb. 27, 1948, 15.

217“Air Conditioning Demonstrated,” House & Home 2.4 (Oct. 1952): 140; “Operating Costs are Lower Than You Think...” House &
Home 5.3 (Mar. 1954): 110; and “What are the Plans of the Merchant Builders?” 86.
28AAHB and NAHB, Austin Air-Conditioned Village Plan Book, n.p.
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than twenty conferences held in 1952.21° As a means of showcasing some of the most notable ideas that surfaced during
the meetings, the organizers sought to coalesce the various methods into a single Trade Secrets house to be built
throughout the U.S. Of the coordinating committee members, Cole’s status as both architect and builder placed him in an
ideal position to design the house, in which he incorporated some of the signature features of his own practice. Tilt-up
walls utilizing precut lumber and modular windows, recommendations of the conferences, significantly decreased
construction time. Atop these, Cole placed preassembled roof trusses to eliminate the need for interior bearing walls. The
resulting open interior provided a notable advantage: sub-contractors could finish walls and flooring without obstructions
or the need to cut materials to fit, thereby expediting the process and reducing waste. The trusses also permitted the use of
prefabricated or site-built partitions and storage walls, which occupied less floor space and provided more adequate
storage than traditional closets. Early in 1953, models of the 1,332 square foot, three-bedroom house were constructed
simultaneously by twenty-three builders in fourteen states. Openings drew record crowds, and by May, over 200 builders
in the U.S. and Canada had ordered plans for the house. If put into large-scale production, the anticipated selling price of
the house was $15,000.2%°

Cole incorporated a number of planning ideas and construction methods from his earlier work into the house he designed
and built with Fabricon for Austin’s Parade of Homes in 1953, itself near-identical to the seven houses he designed for the
Austin Air-Conditioned Village. The predominantly rectangular plan, the same from house to house with minor
variations, represents a simplification of the L-shaped layout of the Trade Secrets house. Each made use of roof trusses,
storage walls, and a new Fabricon item: prefabricated metal gable ends, corrugated to provide attic ventilation (Figures
44-46).22! Despite these commonalities, Cole achieved remarkably diverse exterior appearances in the Air-Conditioned
Village homes. Cladding materials included brick, asbestos, and stucco. Variations in massing were effected through the
orientation of each house, with its long or short fagade facing the street, and the location of its garage or carport, whether
abutting the house or connected by a breezeway. The resulting stylistic treatment ranged from a side-gabled Ranch house,
with low, horizontal lines, to a front-facing Contemporary dwelling, with exposed beams and columns supporting the
gable and detached carport (see Figures 36—-37 and 47-48).

Cole’s designs for Fabricon were built throughout the state, in Austin, Houston, Fort Worth, and smaller central Texas
communities. In 1961, he moved to Baton Rouge to work for another homebuilding company. Shortly thereafter, he
founded a consulting firm, ushering in “a second long career as a researcher and consultant for a myriad of projects,
including the Superdome in New Orleans, pipelines, geothermal power and many legislative and regulatory issues.”?? In
his chronicle of the building of the Superdome, Dave Dixon gives Ned Cole exclusive credit for identification of the site
for the stadium as a researcher for Gulf South Research Institute.?® Cole retired in 1983 and died in 2008.

21%QOperation Trade Secret,” Architectural Forum 95 (Nov. 1951): 213; “Top Builders Reveal More Trade Secrets,” Architectural
Forum 95 (Dec. 1951): 130; and “‘Operation Trade Secrets’ in Full Swing Again,” House & Home 2.2 (Aug. 1952): 108.

220615,000 ‘Trade Secrets’ House,” Life 34.1 (Jan. 5, 1953): 8-15; “Is This 1953°s Most Influential House?” House & Home 3.1 (Jan.
1953): 99-107; “First Trade Secrets Houses Attract Record Crowds,” House & Home 3.2 (Feb. 1953): 41; “The Trade Secrets House
and the U.S. Builder,” House & Home 3.3 (Mar. 1953): 114-19; and “Trade Secrets Houses Begun in 40 States, Canada, Hawaii,”
House & Home 3.5 (May 1953): 55. See also “Ned Cole’s Idea Factory,” Architectural Forum 95 (Aug. 1951): 16265, 240.

221Cole’s 1953 Parade of Homes entry is located at 4906 Westfield Drive. See “One Big Room Idea Provides for Convenience and
Economy,” The American-Statesman, Sept. 20, 1953, E-10 and “What Can You Learn about Summer Cooling from NAHB’s Air-
Conditioned Village,” 132.

222«Ned Ansel Cole.”

22Dave Dixon, The Saints, The Superdome, and The Scandal: An Insider’s Perspective (Gretna, Louisiana: Pelican Publishing, 2008):

101.
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Figure 19. Pictured from left: Ned Cole, Len Haeger, Earl Smith, and Dick Hughes of the National Association of
Home Builders at Austin Air-Conditioned Village Information Center, 2501 Twin Oaks Drive.
Photo by Dewey G. Mears, “What Can You Learn About Summer Cooling from the NAHB’s Air-
Conditioned Village,” House & Home 6.2 (Aug. 1954): 129.
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Figure 36. Utility Home, Ned A. Cole (architect) and George Maxwell (builder), 2602 Park View Drive.
Photo by Dewey G. Mears, “Air-Conditioned Village Report,” House & Home 7.3 (Mar. 1955): 152.
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Figure 37. Utility Home, Ned A. Cole (architect) and George Maxwell (builder), 2602 Park View Drive.
National Association of Home Builders Research Institute, Residential Air Conditioning: A Summary
Report of the Austin Air Conditioned Village Project (n.p., n.d.), 40.
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Figure 41. Coleman Co. Demonstration House, Ned A. Cole (architect), Wichita, Kansas, 1952.
“Air-Conditioning Demonstrated when Architect Joins with Manufacturer to Present $15,000 Builder’s
House,” House & Home 2.4 (Oct. 1952): 140.
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Figure 42. Trade Secrets House, Ned A. Cole (architect), built in 14 states across the U.S. in 1953.
“The Trade Secrets House and the U.S. Builder,” House & Home 3.3 (Mar. 1953): 114.
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Figure 43. Trade Secrets House, Ned A. Cole (architect), built in 14 states across the U.S. in 1953.
“The Trade Secrets House and the U.S. Builder,” House & Home 3.3 (Mar. 1953): 119.
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Figure 44. Roof trusses create an open interior in a Ned A. Cole-designed house in the Austin Air-Conditioned
Village, 1954.
Dewey G. Mears Photograph Archive (AR.2014.029), Austin History Center, Austin Public Library,
Texas, May 4, 1954, C-19599.
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Figure 45. Built-in wall storage unit manufactured by Fabricon. Utility Home, Ned A. Cole (architect), George
Maxwell (builder), 2602 Park View Drive.
Photograph by the author, 2005.
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Figure 46. Prefabricated metal gable vent manufactured by Fabricon. Utility Home, Ned A. Cole (architect), George
Maxwell (builder), 2602 Park View Drive.
Photograph by the author, 2005.
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Figure 47. Bryant Heater Home, Ned A. Cole (architect), Wallace L. Mayfield (builder), 6602 Nasco Drive.
Photo by Dewey G. Mears, “What Can You Learn about Summer Cooling from NAHB’s Air-Conditioned
Village,” House & Home 6.2 (Aug. 1954): 136.
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Figure 48. Bryant Heater Home, Ned A. Cole (architect), Wallace L. Mayfield (builder), 6602 Nasco Drive.
National Association of Home Builders Research Institute, Residential Air Conditioning: A Summary
Report of the Austin Air Conditioned Village Project (n.p., n.d.), 8.
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